IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO

Civil Division
ALAN P. WOODRUFF,  DANIEL FENTON, 
)

LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO,
)
GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO,

)
DONALD HILLIS




)






Plaintiffs
) 
Case No.:  
Vs.






)
 








)

MARY HERRERA, in her official capacity
)

as New Mexico Secretary of State


)

__________________________________________)

COMPLAINT

COME NOW, Plaintiffs ALAN P. WOODRUFF, DANIEL FENTON, LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO, GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO and DONALD HILLIS and sue MARY HARRERA in her capacity as New Mexico Secretary of State and say:

Jurisdiction:
1. This is an action for legal and equitable relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 for violation of Plaintiffs rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution; for violation of the “Qualifications Clause” of Article 1, Section 2 of the United States Constitution; for violation of the “Elections Clause” of Article 1, Section 4, of the United States Constitution, for violation of the fundamental constitutional right to vote and for violation of the New Mexico Constitution. 
2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and §1367.
Parties:

3. Plaintiff ALAN P. WOODRUFF  [herein “Woodruff”] is a resident of New Mexico.

4. Woodruff is a declared candidate for the office of Representative to the United States House of Representatives.

5. Woodruff satisfies all of the requirements for the office of Representative as set forth in Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution.

6. Plaintiff DANIEL FENTON [herein “Fenton”] is a resident of New Mexico but not a registered voter therein.

7. Fenton desires to be a candidate for election to the office of U.S. Representative.

8. Plaintiff LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO [herein “LPNM”] is a political organization in New Mexico. 
9. LPNM was “qualified” as a minor political party in April 2006.
10. LPNM was “de-qualified” by the Secretary of State in April 2009.

11. LPNM intends to nominate candidates for local, state and federal offices in the 2010 general election.

12. Plaintiff GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO [herein “GPNM”] is a political organization in New Mexico. 

13. GPNM was previously “qualified” as a minor political party but was “de-qualified” by the Secretary of State in April 2009.

14. GPNM intends to nominate candidates for local, state and federal offices in the 2010 general election.

15. Plaintiff DONALD HILLIS [herein “Hillis”] is a resident of the State of New Mexico and a registered voter therein.
16. Defendant, MARY HERRERA, in her capacity as New Mexico Secretary of State, is responsible for the administration of the New Mexico Elections Code. 
17. The State of New Mexico limits the rights of minor political parties to have the names of their candidates included on the ballot for general elections by requiring minor parties to file petitions, as more fully described herein, containing the numbers of signatures prescribed by statute.

18. The State of New Mexico limits the rights of candidates to be included on the ballot for primary and general elections by requiring candidates to file petitions, as more fully described herein, containing the numbers of signatures prescribed by statute.

19. The numbers of signatures required for a candidate to obtain access to the ballot depends on the candidate’s party affiliation and/or the absence of any party affiliation. 
20. Plaintiffs ALAN WOODRUFF and DANIEL FENTON are injured as a candidates by the provisions of the New Mexico Election Code and the practices of the Secretary of State, all as enumerated herein, which impair their right of access to the general election ballot.

21. Plaintiffs LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO and GREEN PARTY OF NEW MEXICO are injured as a political parties by the provisions of the New Mexico Election Code and the practices of the Secretary of State, all as enumerated herein, which impair their right to have the names of its candidates included on the general election ballot.

22. Plaintiff DONALD HILLIS is injured as a voter by the provisions of the New Mexico Election Code and the practices of the Secretary of State, all as enumerated herein, which limits his choices of candidates for elected office. 
COUNT I:
VIOLATIONS OF NEW MEXICO’S 

STATE CONSTITUTION

23. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:

24. Section 8, Article II of the New Mexico Constitution provides, in relevant part,  that:

“All elections shall be free and open … “
25. Section 8, Article II of the New Mexico Constitution precludes any statutory restriction on ballot access by any otherwise qualified candidate.  

26. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

(A) Declaring unconstitutional all provisions of the New Mexico Election Code that impose nominating petition signature requirements on candidates as a condition for access the ballot for general elections.

(B) Enjoining the Secretary of State from enforcing any of New Mexico’s nominating petition requirements as conditions for being listed on the general election ballot.

(C) Directing the Secretary of State to include the names of Alan Woodruff and Daniel Fenton on the ballot for the 2010 general election as candidates for the U.S. House of Representatives.

COUNT II:
“QULIFICATIONS CLAUSE” VIOLATIONS

27. Article 2, Section 2, clause 2. of the United States Constitution, generally referred to as the “Qualifications Clause” for Representatives, provides that:

“No Person shall be a Representative who shall not have attained to the Age of twenty five Years, and been seven Years a Citizen of the United States, and who shall not, when elected, be an Inhabitant of that State in which he shall be chosen.”

28. No State law can impose additional requirements as qualifications election to the U.S. House of Representatives.

Count II-A

“Qualification Clause” Violation:
RE: Governor’s Proclamation

29. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 27. through 28. and further say:

30. NMSA § 1-8-18 provides that: 
A. “No person shall become a candidate for nomination by a political party -- unless the record of voter registration shows:

1. Affiliation with that political party on the date of the Governor’s proclamation for the Primary Election;

2. The certificate of voter registration is the only document or means by which the requirement shall be satisfied.

31. NMSA § 1-8-12 provides that the Governor’s proclamation “shall be filed with the secretary of state on the last Monday in January of each even-numbered year.”

32. Taken together, NMSA § 1-8-18 and NMSA § 1-8-12 require all candidates for nomination by political parties to be (a) registered voters and (b) registered as members of the political parties whose nomination they seek on the last Monday of January of the year of the general election in which they seek election. 
33. A candidate cannot establish affiliation with a party without registering to vote in New Mexico. 

34. A candidate cannot be a registered voter without being a resident of the State of New Mexico. 

35. Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution requires only that a Representative be a resident of the State from which he is elected “when elected.”

36. Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution does not require that a Representative be a registered voter in the State from which he is elected at any time.
37. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Fenton, LPNM, GPNM and Hillis ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

A. Finding that the NMSA § 1-8-18:

(1) Imposes an unconstitutional qualification on candidacies for the position of U.S. Representative.
(2) Unconstitutionally impairs the right of association of candidates of a political party for the position of U.S. Representative.

B. Enjoining the Secretary of State from applying the provisions of NMSA §1-8-18 to candidates for the office of U.S. Representative.
C. Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
Count  II-B
“Qualification Clause” Violation:

RE: “Declaration of Candidacy”

38. Plaintiffs Fenton, LPNM, GPNM and Hillis incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 27. through 28. and further say:

39. All party candidates for elected office in New Mexico are required by the Secretary of State, to file a “Declaration of Candidacy” on a form whose content is proscribed by NMSA §1-8-29 for major party candidates and by NMSA §1-8-48 for independent candidates.
40. The New Mexico Election Code does not contain any provision requiring minor party candidates to file a Declaration of Candidacy.
41. The “Declaration of Candidacy – Minor Party” form published by the Secretary of State [a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by reference] requires the candidate to identify his address by reference to his voter registration and to establish his affiliation with the relevant minor party by reference to his voter registration.
42. NMSA § 1-1-7.1 provides that:

“For the purpose of determining the residence of a person desiring to be a candidate for the nomination or election to an office … permanent residence shall be resolved in favor of that place shown on the person's certificate of registration as his permanent residence.”

43. No provision of the New Mexico Election Code provides for any candidate to be identified other than by his voter registration.
44. Only residences of New Mexico are eligible to be registered voters in New Mexico. 
45. NMSA § 1-8-26(B) requires that a candidate’s Declaration of Candidacy” must be filed on the second Tuesday of July in the year of the general election.
46. To file the “Declaration of Candidacy,” candidate must be a resident of New Mexico and a registered voter in New Mexico by the second Tuesday of July in the year of the general election.
47. Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution requires only that a Representative be a resident of the State from which he is elected “when elected.”
48. Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution does not require that a Representative be a registered voter in the State from which he is elected at any time.
49. The requirements of the Declaration of Candidacy form required by the Secretary of State impose requirements on candidates for U.S. Representative that exceed the requirements of Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution.

50. Neither the New Mexico Election Code nor the procedures and practices of Secretary of State provide an alternative under which a non-resident or a resident who is not a registered voter can qualify for being listed on the ballot for general elections.

51. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Fenton, LPNM. GPNM and Hillis ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

A. Finding that the Declaration of Candidacy requirements of the New Mexico Election Code as applied by the Secretary of State:

(1) Imposes an unconstitutional qualification on candidates for the office of U.S. Representative.
(2) Unconstitutionally impair minor party candidates’ rights to be included on the ballot for the office of U.S. Representative.
B. Enjoining the Secretary of State from requiring minor party candidates to file a Declaration of Candidacy as a precondition for being included on the ballot for the general election.

C. Directing the Secretary of State to include the name of Daniel Fenton on the ballot for the 2010 general election as a candidate for the position of U.S. Representative.

D. Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
Count  II-C
“Qualification Clause” Violation:

RE: Individual Candidate Petition Requirements

52. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 27. through 28.. and further say:

53. A political party becomes “qualified” to nominate candidates for political office by satisfying the requirements of NMSA §1-7-2 by filing petitions containing the signatures of  voters totaling not less than one-half of one percent of the total number of votes at the last preceding general election for the office of governor or president of the United States.
54. A minor political party that has become qualified by satisfying with the provisions of NMSA §1-7-2 is entitled to nominate candidates of it choice in accordance with its own rules and regulations.

55. A candidate becomes “qualified” to be listed on the ballot as the candidate of a minor political party by satisfying the requirements of NMSA §1-8-2 by filing petitions containing the signatures of  voters totaling not less than one percent of the total number of votes at the last preceding general election for the office of governor or president of the United States in the district he seeks to serve.
56. For the candidate of a minor political party is to be included on the ballot for the general election, the candidate most file petitions containing the number of signatures required by NMSA §1-8-2 in addition to petition signatures required to qualify a political party. 
57. The petition signature requirements of NMSA §1-8-2 impose a Qualification requirement on individual minor party candidates.

58. The New Mexico Election Code does not provide any alternative means for candidate of a minor party candidate for the office of U.S. Representative to be included on the ballot a the general election.

59. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its order:
(A) Finding that NMSA §1-8-2 imposes an unconstitutional “Qualification” on candidates for the U.S. House of Representatives and unconstitutionally impair access to the ballot by minor party candidates. 
(B) Enjoining the Secretary of State from requiring minor party candidates for the office of Representative to comply with the requirements of NMSA §1-8-2.

(C) Directing the Secretary of State to include the names of Alan Woodruff and Daniel Fenton on the ballot for the 2010 general election as a candidate for U.S. House of Representatives.
(D) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs. 
COUNT III:

“ELECTIONS CLAUSE” VIOLATION

60. Article 1, Section 4, of the United States Constitution, generally referred to as the “Elections Clause,” provides, in relevant part, that:

“The Times, Places and Manner of holding Elections for Senators and Representatives, shall be prescribed in each State by the Legislature thereof;”

61. New Mexico’s authority to establish conditions for ballot access for the election Representatives to the U.S. House of Representatives are controlled by Article 1, Section 4, of the United States Constitution.
62. The State’s only interest in regulating the “time, place and manner” of the election of Representatives is in maintaining the integrity of elections.
63. The State has no justifiable interest in limiting voter choices to the candidates of the major [Republican and Democratic] parties. 

64. Only the legislature of the State of New Mexico has the constitutional authority to establish the procedural requirements to be satisfied by candidates for election to the U.S. House of Representatives. 
Count  III-A

“Elections Clause” Violation:

RE: Minor Party Candidate Petition Requirements

65. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 60. through 64. and further say:

66. As a condition for being included on the ballot for a general election, NMSA §1-8-2(A) requires all minor party candidates for any office to file:

“a petition containing a list of signatures and addresses of voters totaling not less than one percent of the total number of votes cast at the last preceding general election for the office of governor or president of the United States.

67. The petition form published by the Secretary of State for minor party candidate petitions [a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by reference] requires that it be signed by registered voters.

68. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not require that petitions filed by minor party candidates to be signed by registered voters.
69. The petition form published by the Secretary of State for minor party petitions requires that the petition include the printed name of the signer.

70. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not require minor party candidate nominating petitions to include the printed name of the signer. 

71. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not require that petitions filed by minor party candidates include the printed name of the signer.

72. The petition form published by the Secretary of State for minor party candidates requires that a minor party candidate’s petition include a candidate’s party affiliation
73. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not require minor party candidate nominating petitions to include a candidate’s party affiliation. 

74. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not specify whether petition signers must identify the address of their current residency or the address shown on their voter registration card.
75. The nominating petition form published by the Secretary of State requires petition signers to identify their address as registered.
76. NMSA §1-8-31(B) provides that:

“A person who signs a nominating petition shall indicate his residence as his address. If the person does not have a residential address, he may provide his mailing address.” 

 

77. The candidate petition form published by the Secretary of State for use by candidates for U.S. Representative are not in conformity with the requirements of applicable New Mexico statutes.
78. The candidate petition form published by the Secretary of State alters, amends and expands upon the minor party candidate petition form requirements as established by the legislature.

79. The “State of New Mexico 2008 Candidate Guide” states, on page 20 [a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein by reference], that:

“Persons must  use a nominating petition form prescribed by the Secretary of State or can use an exact reproduction of the form authorized for use by the Secretary of State.” [Emphasis added]

80. The Secretary of State refuses to accept signatures on a petition other than the form published by her.

81. With respect to candidates for the office of U.S. Representative, the Secretary of State has no authority to impose petition content requirements not found in NMSA §1-8-2(A).
82. Neither the New Mexico Election Code nor the practices and procedures of the Secretary of State provide an alternative means for candidates for the Office of U.S. Representative to satisfy the candidate petition requirements for ballot access.
83. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

A. Finding that the nominating petition requirements for minor party candidates established by the Secretary of State violate the Elections Cause of the United States Constitution when applied to candidates for the office of U.S. Representative.
B. Enjoining the Secretary of State from requiring that minor party candidates for the office of US. Representative to file petitions as a precondition for being included on the general election ballot.
C. Directing the Secretary of State to include the names of Alan P. Woodruff and Daniel Fenton on the ballot for the 2010 general election as a candidate for the position of U.S. Representative.

D. Awarding Woodruff attorney’s fees and costs.

Count  III -B

“Elections Clause” Violation:

RE: Time for Making Petition Forms Available:

84. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 60. through 64. and further say:
85. NMSA §1-8-30(D) specifies that the Secretary of State must make appropriate nominating petition forms for major party candidates available in October or each odd-numbered years.

86. NMSA §1-8-17(A) provides that: “The Primary Election Law [1-8-10 to 1-8-52 NMSA 1978] applies to major political party nominations for all offices that are to be filled at the general election with the exception of presidential electors.”(Emphasis added)

87. NMSA §1-8-30(D) is found in the portion of the New Mexico Election Code that applies only to major  political party nominations.

88. No provision of the New Mexico Election Code establishes when nominating petition forms for minor  party candidates must be made available.

89. The Secretary of State does not make petitions for minor party candidates available until October of each odd-numbered year.

90. On or about January 23, 2009, Plaintiff Alan P. Woodruff requested, in writing, that the Secretary of State provide him with copies of all nominating petition forms required for his candidacy and to qualify the Libertarian Party of New Mexico.

91. The Secretary of State has failed and refused to respond to Woodruff’s request.

92. The Secretary of State has no constitutional authority to limit the time available for minor party candidates to obtain petition signatures for the office of U.S. Representative.
93. Plaintiff Woodruff and Fenton have been injured by the Secretary of State’s arbitrary limitation on the time during which they are able to collect petition signatures
94. Woodruff and LPNM have been specifically injured by the Secretary of State’s refusal to respond to a written request for the applicable petition forms.
95. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs asks the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

(A) Finding that the enumerated practices of the Secretary of State are unconstitutional because they violate Article 1, Section 4, of the United States Constitution and unconstitutionally limited the time for collecting petition signatures by minor party candidates for the office of U.S. Representative. 

(B) Directing that the Libertarian Party of New Mexico be “qualified” as a political party.

(C) Directing that the names of Alan Woodruff and Daniel Fenton be included on the ballot of the 2010 general election as a candidate for the U.S. House of Representatives, and 

(D) Awarding Woodruff attorney’s fees and costs.

Count  III-C

“Elections Clause” Violation:

RE: Declaration of Candidacy:

96. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 60. through 64. and further say:

97. The Secretary of State requires all candidates to file a “Declaration of Candidacy” as a condition for being included on the ballot for a general election.

98. The requirement for filing a Declaration of Candidacy for major party candidates is found in NMSA §1-8-29/30.

99. The requirement for filing a Declaration of Candidacy for independent candidates is found in NMSA §1-8-48.

100. There is no statutory basis for requiring minor party candidates to file a “Declaration of Candidacy.” 

101. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

A. Finding that the enumerated practices of the Secretary of State of requiring minor party candidates to file a “Declaration of Candidacy” violates Article 1, Section 4, of the United States Constitution.

B. Enjoining the Secretary of State from requiring minor party candidates for the office of Representative to file any documents containing requirements not expressly enumerated in statutes as enacted by the legislature.

C. Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
Count  III-D
“Elections Clause/Equal Protection” Violation:

RE: Candidate Party Designation:

102. Plaintiffs Woodruff, Fenton and GPNM incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and 60. through 64. and further say:
103. Political parties exist for the purpose of enabling voters to associate for the purpose of promoting political philosophies and candidates who represent those philosophies.

104. Political parties represent associations of private (non-governmental) persons and organization.

105. Political parties are not governmental entities.

106. Candidates who are nominated by “qualified” political parties are identified on the New Mexico ballot by their party affiliation.
107. Candidates who independently qualify for inclusion on the ballot, but who are members of a political party that has not independently qualified for ballot access, are identified on the ballot as “Independent” and are denied the benefit of party identity. 

108. The State of New Mexico has no legitimate State interest in promoting, endorsing or publicizing any political party.

109. The candidates of parties do not always represent the political philosophies identified with the Party.

110. Party affiliation is often a misleading indicator of a candidate’s political philosophy.

111. The identification of candidates by party affiliation is misleading and confusing to voters.
112. Many voters vote for candidates based on their party affiliation without regard to the personal characteristics, platform or qualifications of the candidate.

113. The identification of candidates by party affiliation promotes voting for candidates based on party affiliation rather that a candidate’s qualifications of positions. 

114. Candidates affiliated with major parties are “guaranteed” the use of a party-affiliation label on the ballot.

115. Candidates affiliated with minor parties are denied the use of a party-affiliation label on the ballot if the party does not independently qualify for ballot access. 

116. New Mexico offers voters an opportunity to cast a “straight party” vote.
117. The “straight party” voting option encourages voting for candidates based solely on party-affiliation without regard to a candidate’s qualifications of positions.

118. New Mexico’s “straight party” voting option is prejudicial to the candidates of minor parties.

119. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its Order and Judgment: 
A. Finding the State’s practice of identifying candidates by Party affiliation violates the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.
B. Declaring unconstitutional New Mexico’s “straight party” voting option.

C. Enjoining the Secretary of State from identifying candidates on the ballot by party affiliation.

D. Awarding attorney’s fee and costs.
COUNT IV:

“PETITION” FORM REQUIREMENTS 

ARE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE

120. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 12. and further say:

121. NMSA §1-7-2(A) provides that persons signing the nominating petition for a minor party “declare by their signatures on such petition that they are voters of New Mexico.” (Emphasis added)

122. Minor political parties cannot obtain access to the ballot without complying with the requirements of NMSA §1-7-2(A)

123. NMSA §1-8-2(B) provides, in relevant part, that minor party candidates file “a petition containing a list of signatures and addresses of voters…”(Emphasis added)

124. Candidates of minor political parties cannot obtain access to the ballot without complying with the requirements of NMSA §1-8-2(A).

125. The New Mexico Election Code does not define the term “voters” as used in NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A).

126. For purposes of NMSA §1-7-2(A), the nominating petition form for minor political parties published by the Secretary of State [a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “D” and incorporated herein by reference], the Secretary of State construes “voter” to mean an “eligible elector.” 

127. For purposes of NMSA §1-8-2(B), the nominating petition form for minor party candidates published by the Secretary of State [a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by reference], the Secretary of State construes “voter” to mean a “registered voter.”

128. The construction given by the Secretary of State to the terms “voter” and “voter in New Mexico” as used in NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A) represents her subjective interpretation of those terms.
129. NMSA §1-8-2(A) further requires the signers of petitions for minor party candidates list their “address.”

130. NMSA §1-8-2(A) does not specify whether petition signers must identify the address of their current residency or the address shown on their voter registration card.
131. The nominating petition form published by the Secretary of State requires petition signers to identify their address as registered.

132. The construction given by the Secretary of State to the term “address” as used in NMSA §1-8-2(A) represents her subjective interpretation of that term.
133. NMSA §1-8-31(B) provides that:

“A person who signs a nominating petition shall indicate his residence as his address. If the person does not have a residential address, he may provide his mailing address.” 

134. The Secretary of State’s determination that the term “address,” as used in NMSA §1-8-2(A), means the signer’s address “as registered” is contrary to the express language of NMSA §1-8-31(B)
135. Signatures on petitions for minor political parties and minor political party candidates may be challenged in judicial proceedings by opposing parties and opposing candidates.

136. The Secretary of State’s interpretation of the terms of the applicable statues is not binding on other political parties or candidates who may challenge the petitions filed by minor political parties or their candidates.

137. In the absence of an unambiguous definition of the term “voter” as used in NMSA §1-7-2(A), minor political parties are unable to determine which voters are qualified signers of their petition.

138. In the absence of an unambiguous definition of the term “voter” as used in NMSA §1-8-2(A), minor political parties candidates are unable to determine which voters are qualified signers of their petition.

139. In the absence of an unambiguous definition of the term “address” as used in NMSA §1-8-2(A), minor political parties candidates are unable to determine the information required to ensure that the signatures they collect will be counted in satisfying the requirements of NMSA §1-8-2(A).

140. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff’s ask the Court to enter its order:

(A) Finding that (a) the terms “voter” and “address” as use in NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A) are unconstitutionally vague and that (b) the nominating petition requirements of NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A) are unenforceable, and

(B) Enjoining the Secretary of State from enforcing the provisions of NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A) as conditions precedent to qualifying minor parties and minor party candidates for the ballot for the 2010 general election and

(C) Directing that Plaintiff Libertarian Party of New Mexico be “qualified” for ballot access and,

(D) Directing that the names of Alan Woodruff  and Daniel Fenton be included on the ballot 2010 general election as a  candidate for the U.S. House of Representatives, and 

(E) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs. 
COUNT V:
NEW MEXICO’S BALLOT ACCESS REQUIREMENTS

DISCRMINATE AGAINST MINOR POLITICAL
PARTIES AND MINOR PARTY CANDIDATES
141. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:

142. Pursuant to NMSA §1-7-2, to qualify as a political party eligible to place candidates on the ballot for a general election, a minor party is required to file a petition containing the signatures of  voters totaling not less than one-half of one percent of the total number of votes at the last preceding general election for the office of governor or president of the United States.

143. Pursuant to NMSA §1-8-2(A)-(B), a minor party candidate for the office of United States Representative is required to file a nominating petition containing the signatures of  voters totaling not less than one percent of the total number of votes cast in the district he seeks to represent at the last preceding general election for the office of governor or president of the United States.

144. Pursuant to NMSA §1-8-33, a major party candidate is only required to  file a nominating petition containing the signatures of at least two percent of all votes cast in the district he seeks to represent for all of the party's candidates for governor at the last preceding primary election at which the party's candidate for governor was nominated. 

145. Voter turnout for general elections is greater than voter turnout for primary elections.

146. Voter turnout in years of Presidential elections is greater than voter turnout in years of gubernatorial elections. 

147. For the 2008 elections, the Secretary of State announced the following ballot access nominating petition signature requirements for candidates for U.S. House of Representatives in the “State of New Mexico 2008 Candidate Guide” [a copy of the relevant portions of which are attached as Exhibit “E” and incorporated herein by reference]:





First District

Second District
Third District


Democratic

   607

                  592

       959


Republican
               329

                  402

       328


Minor Party                 2,107

               1,559                            1,926

148. For the 2006 elections, approximately the following number of nominating petition signatures were required candidates for U.S. House of Representatives:




First District

Second District
Third District


Democratic
                 700*
          
          700*

      600*

Republican
                 275*

          350*

      275*

Minor Party                   2,700*
                    2,000*                      2,500*

* Estimated
149. The petition signature requirements of the New Mexico Election Code violate the principle of “one-man, one-vote” because:
A. Individual signers of petitions for candidates of different parties have different weights in determining the eligibility of a candidate to be included on the ballot.

B. Individual signers of petitions for candidates in different districts have different weights in determining the eligibility of a candidate to be included on the ballot.

150. Ballot-access petition signature requirements for major party candidates are significantly less than the ballot-access petition signature requirements for minor party candidates.

151. Major party candidates earn as place on the ballot for the general election by winning their party primary election.

152. Major party candidates are not required to obtain any particular number of votes in their party’s primary election to earn as place on the ballot for the general election by winning their party primary election.

153. The New Mexico Elections Code imposes different petition signature requirements on different candidates running for the U.S. House of Representatives from the same district in different years.

154. The New Mexico Elections Code imposes different petition signature requirements on different candidates running for the U.S. House of Representatives from different districts in the same year.

155. The petition signature requirements of the New Mexico’s Election Code do not attempt to measure actual support for a candidate.  Specifically, the candidate petition signature requirements: 

(A) Do not require signers to state that support the party or candidate.

(B) Do not require signers to indicate any personal knowledge of the party or candidate.

156. The petition signature requirements of the New Mexico’s Election Code do not facially limit the number of parties or candidates that may be listed on the general election.  Specifically NMSA § 1-7-2 requires minor parties to submit petitions containing the signatures of one-half of one percent of the voters in the preceding election for governor or president.  Under this provision, as many as 200 political parties can qualify to nominate a candidate for any individual office.

157. Major party candidates for county offices are not required to file nominating petitions and a precondition to being included on the ballot for the general election. 

158. Minor parties are only entitled to have a candidate included on ballot for any office in the general election if their candidate satisfies the petition signature requirements of NMSA §1-8-2.

159. Pursuant to NMSA §§1-8-7 and 1-8-8, a major party candidate can obtain access to the ballot—as a replacement for a deceased or resigning candidate--merely by being designated “by the central committee of the state or county political party” without satisfying any statutory nominating petition requirements

160. NMSA §§1-8-7 and 1-8-8 permits major parties to replace deceased candidates with a candidate named by the party.

161. New Mexico has no provision allowing minor parties to replace deceased or resigning candidates.
162. New Mexico requires minor parties to “qualify” on a statewide basis to offer candidates for local elections and to offer candidates for state office as representatives of local districts.

163. Requiring minor parties to “qualify” on a statewide basis impairs the right of association of voters within political subdivisions of the State.

164. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff’s ask the Court to enter its order:

(A) Finding that New Mexico’s ballot-access signature requirements:

(1) Unconstitutionally discriminates in favor of major parties and against minor parties in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U. S. Constitution.

(2) Unconstitutionally favor the candidates of major parties over the candidates of minor parties
(3) Unconstitutionally impairs the rights of minor parties to nominate candidates for local and non-statewide offices. 
(B) Enjoining the Secretary of State from enforcing the petition signature requirements of NMSA §1-7-2(A) and NMSA §1-8-2(A)-(B) as conditions precedent to qualifying the LPNM or GPNM, or any if their nominees for public office for inclusion on the ballot for the 2010 general election.
(C) Directing that Plaintiffs LPNM and GPNM be “qualified” for ballot access.

(D) Directing that the names of Alan Woodruff and Daniel Fenton be included on the 2010 general election ballot as a candidate for the U.S. House of Representatives. 

(E) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.

COUNT VI:

MINOR PARTY CANDIDATE PETITION REQUIRMENTS

IMPERMISSIBLY INTERFERE WITH RIGHTS AND

PROCEDURES OF MINOR PARTIES

165. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:

166. Political parties are entitled to nominate candidates for office by becoming “qualified” by filing petitions with the number of signatures required by NMSA §1-7-2.

167. Minor parties are entitled to nominate the candidate of their choice through party conventions in accordance with the provisions of their Rules and Regulations.

168. NMSA § 1-8-18 provides that: 
A. “No person shall become a candidate for nomination by a political party -- unless the record of voter registration shows:

3. Affiliation with that political party on the date of the Governor’s proclamation for the Primary Election;

169. NMSA § 1-8-18(A)(1) denies political parties the right to nominate candidates who are otherwise qualified for the office they seek but who:

A. Were not residents of the State on the date of the Governor’s proclamation. Or
B. Were residents of the State but did not become registered voters until after the date of the Governor’s proclamation.

170. As a requirement for being listed on the ballot for the general election, New Mexico requires minor party candidates to file petitions containing the number of signatures required by NMSA §1-8-2 in addition to petition signatures required to qualify a political party. 
171. The requirement that candidates of minor parties to individually qualify for inclusion on the general election ballot by filing petitions containing the requisite number of signatures:

A. Impairs the ability of minor parties to have the candidate of their choice included on the general election ballot.
B. Constitutes an intrusion by the State of New Mexico into the internal affairs of minor parties.

172. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its order:

(A) Finding that NMSA § 1-8-18(A) (1) impermissibly interferes with the rights of minor parties to nominate the candidate of their choice.

(B) Finding that New Mexico’s requirement that the individual candidates of minor parties comply with statutory petition signature requirements as a precondition to nominating by their party impermissibly interferes with the rights of minor parties to nominate the candidate of their choice.
(C) Enjoining the Secretary of State from requiring that candidates nominated by the Libertarian Party of New Mexico and Green Party of New Mexico in accordance with their party rules and Regulations independently qualify for inclusion on the 2010 general election ballot.

(D) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
COUNT VII:

MINOR PARTY CANDIDATE FILING REQUIREMENTS

ARE UNDULY RESTRICTIVE

173. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:
174. NMSA § 1-8-2(B) requires than minor party candidates file their appropriate documents “on the second Tuesday in July” in the year of the general election. 
175. NMSA § 1-8-2(B) makes no provision for the filing of nominating petitions for minor party candidates before the second Tuesday in July in the year of the general election.
176. NMSA § 1-8-2(B) makes no provision for the filing of nominating petitions for minor party candidates on any alternate day in the event that State offices are closed on that day.
177. The Secretary of State actually requires minor party candidates to file nominating petitions and declarations of candidacy before the date required by statute.  In 2008, the Secretary of State required minor party candidates to file nominating petitions and declarations of candidacy on Tuesday, June 24. [See Exhibit “F” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.]
178. The State of New Mexico has no compelling interest in requiring that nominating petitions by minor party candidates be filed on one, and only one, identified day.
179. NMSA § 1-8-2(B) imposes an unconstitutional limitation on the filing of nominating petitions.
180. New Mexico statutes do not establish any constitutionally permissible alternative date for filing nominating petitions for inclusion on the ballot for general elections. 
181. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs asks the Court to enter its Order and Judgment

(A) Finding that NMSA § 1-8-2(B) is unconstitutional as impermissible burdensome on minor party candidates.

(B) Directing that the Secretary of State include the name of Alan Woodruff and Daniel Fenton on the ballot for the 2010 general election.
(C) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
COUNT VIII

NMSA §1-8-18 Unconstitutionally

Impairs the Rights of Parties.

182. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:

183. NMSA § 1-8-18 provides that: 

A. “No person shall become a candidate for nomination by a political party -- unless the record of voter registration shows:

4. Affiliation with that political party on the date of the Governor’s proclamation for the Primary Election;

184. NMSA § 1-8-18 completely precludes a person who is a non-resident, or resident who is not a registered voter, from being the nominee of a political party for the office of U.S. Representative. 

185. Political parties not previously “qualified” to have their candidates names included on the ballot for the general election are not required to file their applicable petitions and rules and regulations until after the date of the Governor’s proclamation.

186. No provision of the New Mexico Election Code requires the Secretary of State to make a determination regarding the “qualified” status of a political party prior to the date of the Governor’s proclamation.

187. NMSA § 1-8-18 completely precludes a candidate who is a member of a political party from becoming the candidate of another political party after the date of the Governors proclamation.

188. NMSA § 1-8-18 completely precludes political parties from nominating, as their candidates, any otherwise qualified candidate who is not a registered voter on the date of the Governor’s proclamation.

189. NMSA § 1-8-18 completely precludes political parties from recruiting, as their candidates, any otherwise qualified candidate who is not a registered voter on the date of the Governor’s proclamation.

190. The New Mexico Election Code does not provide an alternative under which a non-resident, or a resident who is not a registered voter, can be the nominee of a political party for the office of U.S. Representative.

191. NMSA §1-8-18 precludes political parties from nominating candidates who are not identified on their voter registration as members of that party.

192. NMSA §1-8-18 limits the rights of party’s right no nominate candidates of their choice.

193. With respect to the offices of U.S. Senator and U.S. Representative, NMSA §1-8-18 establishing a party nominating requirement that cannot be applied as a requirement for election

194. WHERFORE, Plaintiff asks the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

(A) Finding that NMSA § 1-8-18 is unconstitutional
(B) Enjoining the Secretary of State from enforcing NMSA § 1-8-18
(C) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
COUNT IX:

NEW MEXICO ELECTION CODE PROVISIONS “DE-QUALIFYING”

MINOR PARTIES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

195. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 12. and further say:

196. NMSA § 1-7-2, provides, in relevant part, that:
… if two successive general elections are held without at least one of the party's candidates on the ballot or if the total votes cast for the party's candidates for governor or president of the United States, provided that the party has a candidate seeking election to either of these offices, in a general election do not equal at least one-half of one percent of the total votes cast for the office of governor or president of the United States, as applicable … the secretary of state shall remove all material dealing with the political party from his file of parties qualified in New Mexico. 
The secretary of state shall then notify all county clerks of the removal and non-qualification of the political party.  . . . The county clerk shall immediately notify by mail all voters registered as members of such party of the removal and non-qualification of the party.  
To requalify, the party must again comply with the provisions of the Election Code dealing with filing requirements for political parties.    

197. No State interest is served by “de-qualifying” a minor party after it has been qualified.
198. No State interest is served by notifying the individual voters registered with a minor party that their party has been de-qualified.
199. Neither the placement of candidates on the ballot nor the votes for a party’s candidate for President represent accurate measures of support for a party.
200. De-qualifying a minor party after it has been qualified, and notifying all voters registered with that party of the de-qualification the party, impairs the ability of the party to expand. 
201. New Mexico offers voters a “straight party” voting option.
202. Only the Republican Party and the Democratic Party were identified as parties for which the “straight party” voting option was available in the 2008 general election. 
203. Neither the Green Party nor Libertarian Party were identified as one of the parties for which the "straight party” voting option was available in the 2008 general election.
204. The absence of the Green Party and Libertarian Party from the parties identified for the “straight party” voting option impairs the ability of the Green Party and the Libertarian Party, and all other parties not identified on the ballot as a choice for a “straight party” voter, to attract votes.
205. New Mexico’s “straight party” voting option favors the established parties--the Republican Party and the Democratic Party—to the detriment of minor parties.
206. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask the Court to enter its order:
(A) Declaring parts (C)-(D) of NMSA §1-7-2 unconstitutional.

(B) Directing the Secretary of State to reinstate the “qualified” status of the Libertarian Party of New Mexico and the Green Party of New Mexico.
(C) Declaring New Mexico’s use of a “straight party” voting option unconstitutional.
(D) Awarding attorney’s fees and costs

COUNT X:

NEW MEXICO’S BALLOT ACCESS REQUIREMENTS

UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IMPAIR THE RIGHTS OF VOTERS.
207. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1. through 22. and further say:

208. The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution provides, in part, that:

“No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; …” 
209. The Fourteenth Amendment establishes an absolute bar to any State action that abridges a privilege of citizenship.

210. The right to vote is a fundamental right guaranteed by the United States Constitution and a privilege of citizenship.
211. The right to vote includes the right to vote for any candidate of the citizen’s choice.
212. The right to vote is heavily burdened if that vote may be cast only for one of two parties at a time when other parties are clamoring for a place on the ballot.

213. The right to vote freely for the candidate of one's choice is the essence of a democratic society, and any restrictions on that right strike at the heart of representative government.

214. U.S. Representatives are responsible to the people who vote for them, not to the States in which they reside of to the political parties with which they are affiliated.
215. The candidates of the Republican and Democratic parties represent the interests of their parties.
216. The interests of the voters are not fully represented by the candidates of the Republican and Democratic parties.
217. The ballot access requirement of the New Mexico Election Code denies voters any meaningful choice of candidates.

218. The ballot access requirement of the New Mexico Election Code denies voters the opportunity to participate in a meaningful way in the political process. 

219. The availability of a write-in candidate is not a substitute for a name on the ballot.

220. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff DONALD HILLIS asks the Court to enter its Order and Judgment:

A. Finding that all ballot access limitations established by the New Mexico Election Code unconstitutionally burden the fundamental right to vote.

B. Enjoining the Secretary of State from denying ballot access to any candidate for the office of U.S. Representative who satisfies the requirements of Article 1, Section 2, clause 2 of the United States Constitution.

C. Awarding attorney’s fees and costs.
____________________________ 

Alan P. Woodruff, Pro Se and as Counsel 
for Daniel Fenton and the Green Party of

New Mexico

10304 Calle Hidalgo N.W.

Albuquerque, New Mexico 87114

(505) 508-3421

____________________________

M.J. Keefe, Esq. Counsel for Libertarian Party of New Mexico and Donald Hillis.
Gilpin & Keefe, P.C.

5100 Indian School Road, NE

Albuquerque, New Mexico 87110

(505) 244-3861 
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- 25 -


